University of South Bohemia Faculty of Science

Transgenerational effect in *Taraxacum brevicorniculatum*: test of a novel method of experimental plant DNA demethylation and its practical application in exploring the impact of maternal competition on progeny phenotype

Master thesis

Bc. Hana Dvořáková

Supervisor: Doc. Francesco de Bello, Ph.D.

České Budějovice 2016

Dvořáková. H., 2016: Transgenerational effect in *Taraxacum brevicorniculatum*: test of a novel method of experimental plant DNA demethylation and its practical application in exploring the impact of maternal competition on progeny phenotype. Mgr. Thesis, in English. – 45 p., Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic.

Annotation:

Spray application of 5-azacytidine on established plant seedlings was tested for its demethylating efficiency, as it represents a novel method for plant experimental demethylation with a potentially lower negative impact on plant development compared to the traditional application of the demethytaling agent through germination of seeds in its solution. Further, the 5-azacytidine spray application was used in practice to erase the epigenetic memory in offspring of *Taraxacum brevicorniculatum* plants from different competitive conditions. The impact of parental competition on the juvenile phenotype was estimated by measuring growth related traits, while the experimental demethylation allowed for evaluating the significance of DNA methylation marks in bioticaly induced transgenerational effects in *T. brevirorniculatum*.

I hereby declare that this master thesis is entirely the result of my own work except where otherwise indicated. I have only used the resources given in the list of references.

I hereby declare that, in accordance with Article 47b of Act No. 111/1998 in the valid wording, I agree with the publication of my master thesis, in full electronic form in publicly accessible part of the STAG database operated by the University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice accessible through its web pages. Further, I agree to the electronic publication of the comments of my supervisor and thesis opponents and the record of the proceedings and results of the thesis defence in accordance with aforementioned Act No. 111/1998. I also agree to the comparison of the text of my thesis with the Theses.cz thesis database operated by the National Registry of University Theses and a plagiarism detection system.

České Budějovice, 11. 12. 2016

Hana Dvořáková

Thesis acknowledgments

On the first place, my thanks belong to my supervisor Doc. Francesco de Bello, Ph.D. for his patient and stimulating leadership. Further, I would like to thank all the work team for fruitful and joyful cooperation, especially to Carlos Pérez Carmona, PhD., always ready to share his admirable statistical knowledge. Last but not least, I gratefully acknowledge the help of Jiří Košnar, PhD., who guided me through the lab part of the experiment.

Contents

1. Introduction1
1.1. Transgenerational effects
1.1.1. Adaptive significance of transgenerational effects
1.1.2. Functional traits as a response to abiotic and biotic stressors
1.2. Epigenetic processes
1.2.1. DNA methylation5
1.2.2. Spontaneous cytosine methylation in natural populations
1.2.3. Methyltransferases and their functions7
1.3. Methods to explore the significance of epigenetic processes
1.3.1. Demethylating agent 5-azacytidine9
1.4. Aims of the thesis10
2. Methods11
2.1. Study species and seed material11
2.2. Experiment 1 – comparison of spraying vs. germinating treatment for experimental demethylation
2.2.1. Experimental design12
2.2.2. Plant morphological measurements
2.2.3. DNA extraction and genome-wide DNA methylation estimation13
2.2.4. Statistical analyses14

7. Appendix – figures and tables
6. References
5. Conclusions
4.2. The role of parental competitive conditions in progeny's early development23
4.1. Relevance of the 5-azaC spray application to recent ecological epigenetic research20
4. Discussion
3.2. Experiment 2 – test of the effect of parental competition on progeny's early development
3.1. Experiment 1 – comparison of spraying vs. germinating treatment for experimental demethylation
3. Results
2.3.5. Computations and statistical analyses17
2.3.4. Measurements of the early development traits of the progeny
2.3.3. Experimental design – offspring generation16
2.3.2. Seed collection and biomass yield16
2.3.1. Experimental design – maternal generation15
2.3. Experiment 2 – test of the effect of parental competition on progeny's early development

1. Introduction

Epigenetic effects and its importance as a means of transgenerational inheritance in plants has been a highly discussed topic in the field of plant ecology and evolution recently. There has already been a lot of research conducted to demonstrate the ability of plants to pass some of their qualities acquired in response to environmental conditions on their direct progeny through so called transgenerational or parental effects (Roach & Wulff, 1987a; Rossiter, 1996; Weiner *et al.*, 1997; Agrawal *et al.*, 1999; Galloway, 2005; Holeski *et al.*, 2012). Some of the heritable characteristics can even act adaptively to increase the fitness of the following generation (Mousseau & Fox, 1998; Agrawal, 2002; Dyer *et al.*, 2010; Latzel *et al.*, 2010; Colicchio *et al.*, 2015b; Herman & Sultan, 2016; Rendina González *et al.*, 2016a). Nevertheless, the exact way of the transmission of such heritable information from one generation to another is still not very clear. Epigenetic effects, which are able to alter DNA expression without DNA sequence modification, seem to be a hot candidate for this role. One of such DNA modification, which is known to occur in response to environmental factors, is DNA methylation.

However, direct quantification of epigenetic processes often requires using highly sophisticated, computationally demanding and expensive molecular methods including a full reference genome of the study plant, which makes it daunting to most plant ecologists. To overcome this obstacle, alternative approaches have been developed (Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010). They are based on artificial altering of the epigenetic status of the study plant by increasing or decreasing its level of cytosine methylation. One of the possibilities is using a demethylation agent, a biomolecule inhibiting function of DNA methyltransferase - an enzyme responsible for incorporating methyl groups into DNA (Cubas *et al.*, 1999; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Verhoeven & van Gurp, 2012; Liu *et al.*, 2015; Herman & Sultan, 2016). Comparison of treated vs. untreated plant samples of the same genetic and epigenetic background then allows for estimation of the range and importance of plant 'epigenetic memory' (Herman & Sultan, 2016; Rendina González *et al.*, 2016b).

Although the experimental demethylation represents an easy and elegant tool of epigenetic research, it also has some serious limitations. 5-azacytidine, a commonly used demethylation agent with a high demethylating efficiency, was also shown to have significantly negative effects on plant development by causing various growth aberrations, especially in the

root part, and thus reducing plant fitness and viability (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Kondo *et al.*, 2007; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Amoah *et al.*, 2012). This fact unfortunately substantially challenges the practical applicability of this approach and the ecological conclusions derived from those experiments.

Based on the findings of so far conducted studies on the role of epigenetics in plant ecology and evolution, this thesis aimed to contribute to improvement of the experimental demethylation methods by testing the efficiency of a newly proposed spray application of the demethylation agent 5-azacytidine, and to enhance the range of research on bioticaly induced trangenerational plasticity by a two generation competition experiment with practical usage of the novel demethylation method.

1.1. Transgenerational effects

Transgenerational effects can be defined as modifications of offspring phenotype induced by environmental conditions experienced by its parents, independently of the DNA sequence (Roach & Wulff, 1987a; Jablonka & Lamb, 1995; Rossiter, 1996; Mousseau & Fox, 1998; Galloway, 2005). In the past they were often referred to as maternal effects since it had been thought they were mediated solely by the additional egg material, i. e. via cytoplasmic genetics (plastids and mitochondria), endosperm or via phenotypic based structure of the maternal tissues immediately surrounding the developing embryo and endosperm (Roach & Wulff, 1987a; Rossiter, 1996; Mousseau & Fox, 1998). Maternal effects were recognized in 1909 (Correns, 1909) and for a long time they had been considered a 'troublesome' source of error as they violated the rules Mendelian system and so reduced the precision of genetic studies (Roach & Wulff, 1987a). Not earlier than in the late 80's an increased attention started to be paid to this important source of non-genetic inheritance that can have a substantial impact on plant phenotype. Since then the potential of maternal effects for an adaptive environmental response of the offspring has been increasingly recognized (Roach & Wulff, 1987a; Dudley, 1991; Mousseau & Fox, 1998; Wolf *et al.*, 1998; Agrawal *et al.*, 1999; Agrawal, 2002).

With the increasing amount of research concentrated on the significance of maternal effects in plant ecology and evolution, it has been revealed that an adaptive response of progeny is able to persist for several generations (Fieldes & Amyot, 1999; Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Whittle

et al., 2009; Kou *et al.*, 2011; Herman *et al.*, 2012). Such long-term persistence could not be explained by simple egg provisioning any more as such transmission can only influence the direct progeny. Transmission of acquired phenotypic characteristics over several generations required mechanisms, which would be highly plastic but would also dispose of some stability (Herman & Sultan, 2016). This function can be provided by mechanisms able to modulate DNA expression while maintaining DNA sequence unchanged. Such mechanisms are altogether called epigenetic processes.

Once understood that maternal provisioning is not the only source of transgenerational change, the term maternal effects started to be substituted by the term parental or even better transgenerational effects, especially in studies of sexually reproducing plants, where the paternal influence can not be excluded.

1.1.1. Adaptive significance of transgenerational effects

Probably the most important property of transgenerational effects for plant ecology and evolution is its adaptive potential. The ability to pass information about the biotic or abiotic conditions the parent lived in onto the following generation to mediate their increased fitness or competitive ability opens a possibility of directed microevolution resonating with the Lamarckian idea of evolution, which seemed inconceivable from the genetical point of view (Wolf *et al.*, 1998; Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Richards *et al.*, 2010; Hauser *et al.*, 2011; Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Zuppinger-Dingley *et al.*, 2014).

Of course, it is not reasonable to attribute these processes to some mysterious information that telepathically travels between the parent and the progeny telling it to create novel phenotypic traits to prosper better. The process of adaptation works in two phases. The first phase is commonly known and not shocking – it is the ability of plants to adapt to abiotic conditions such as amount of light, moisture, nutrients etc. and biotic conditions such as herbivory or competition by adjusting their phenotypic traits. These changes develop gradually during plant ontogenesis in response to direct environmental stressors, increasing the chance of the individual to survive and compensate for possible losses (Dyer *et al.*, 2010). Nevertheless, these changes have no chance to incorporate into the DNA sequence and so they were thought to be reset by the process of meiosis (Feng *et al.*, 2011; Paszkowski & Grossniklaus, 2011).

Surprisingly, it has been shown that the phenotypic adjustments acquired during ontogeny can endure the process of reproduction and be passed on the progeny making them pre-adapted for the environmental conditions experienced by their parents (Jablonka & Lamb., 1989; Donohue & Schmitt, 1998; Dyer *et al.*, 2010). Such transgenerational effects represent the second phase of adaptation. They are considered adaptive in cases in which offspring have higher fitness in environments resembling parental conditions (Galloway, 2005; Galloway & Etterson, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2014; Latzel *et al.*, 2014).

1.1.2. Functional traits as a response to abiotic and biotic stressors

Phenotypic functional traits are a key mechanism for estimating plant fitness, adaptation and transgenerational inheritance. They represent measurable plant characteristics referring to morphological, physiological and life-history properties of plants that can directly or indirectly influence their fitness and competitive ability (Violle et al., 2007), which made them an essential tool of most ecological studies. Following plant phenotypic development in response to biotic and abiotic condition throughout several generations by measuring more or less complex parental and offspring functional traits pushes the research on transgenerational plant adaptation forward. By the means of measuring various growth-related functional traits, heritable plastic response to numerous stressors was repeatedly demonstrated. For example, previous studies have shown transgenerational phenotypic response to disturbance and nutrients in perennial *Plantago* species (Latzel & Klimešová, 2010; Latzel *et al.*, 2010), to drought and nutrients in an annual Arabidopsis thaliana (Zhang et al., 2013), to drought stress alone in an annual Polygonum persicaria (Herman & Sultan, 2016), impact of drought and herbivory on growthrelated traits of ramets in clonal Trifolium repens (Rendina González et al., 2016a,b), trangeneratrionally induced resistence to herbivory in an annual Raphanus raphanistrum (Agrawal, 2002), transgenerational phenotypic response to hormones providing defence against herbivory and pathogens in Arabidopsis thaliana (Latzel et al., 2012), increased leaf trichome density in response to parental leaf damage in both annual and perennial populations of Mimulus guttatus (Holeski, 2007) or heritability over several generations of as complex trait as flowering initiation time in Arabidopsis thaliana (Johannes et al., 2009).

It is quite obvious that, except for the herbivory defence, studies of abiotic stressors are much more broadly represented than studies on bioticaly induced transgenerational effects, particularly studies considering maternal competition. Nevertheless, the importance of competition in transgenerational inheritance of plant communities was well demonstrated in the study by Zuppinger-Dingley *et al.* (2014). The study consisted of experimental plant communities of 12 grassland species that were grown either in monocultures or in mixtures over several generations. Progeny of those communities were then planted in control conditions in both mixture or monoculture conditions and their biomass and functional traits were measured. Increased character displacement between species and higher net biodiversity effect was observed in test communities of mixture types (progeny of mixed communities) indicating niche differentiation and, thus, pre-preparation for competitive conditions. Contrarily, test communities of monoculture types (progeny of monoculture communities) exhibited increased intraspecific trait variation indicating pre-preparation for better prosperity in monocultures due to broader spread of phenotypes. Both mixture and monoculture types showed better performance when grown in the parental conditions, suggesting transgenerational adaptive response to parental competitive conditions (Zuppinger-Dingley *et al.*, 2014)

1.2. Epigenetic processes

Growing body of evidence suggests that transgenerational phenotypic variability might not only be conditioned genetically and modulated through ovule or seed provisioning but it can also be induced epigenetically. Epigenetic processes are a suit of molecular mechanisms able to alter gene expression and function without changes in DNA sequence (Richards, 2006; Bird, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2013) and so provide a plastic response to the environment during plant ontology with a potential to be transmitted to the next generation (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2008; Jablonka & Raz, 2009; Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Amoah *et al.*, 2012). These processes affect chromatine structure by epigenetic marks superimposed on the DNA sequence of eukaryote chromosomes and include histone modification, RNA interference and DNA methylation (Bird, 2007; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Amoah *et al.*, 2012).

1.2.1. DNA methylation

Among known epigenetic processes, DNA methylation is the most studied, best understood and possibly even the most important one (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Pavlopoulou & Kossida, 2007; Reinders *et al.*, 2009; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul,

2015). Methylation of cytosine at the 5 position of the pyrimidine ring has been found in most eukaryotes and plays a role in the gene repression and in overall genome stability through controlling transposable elements (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Pavlopoulou & Kossida, 2007; Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Hauser *et al.*, 2011; Moricová *et al.*, 2013; Colicchio *et al.*, 2015a; Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). While the level of cytosine methylation ranges from 3 to 8 % in vertebrates, its prevalence in plants can be several times higher, ranging from 6 to 30 or even 40 % of methylated cytosines (Gruenbaum *et al.*, 1981; Klaas *et al.*, 1989; Finnegan E. J. *et al.*, 1998; Chen & Li, 2004). High level of cytosine methylation in plants is attributed to the fact that while in animal DNA only CpG (cytosine-phosphate-guanine) dinucleotides can be methylated, in plants cytosine methylation is possible in both CpG dinucleotides and CpNpG or CpNpNp trinucleotides, where N stands for any nucleotide (Gruenbaum *et al.*, 1981). Moreover, unlike animal, plant methylation paterns in symmetric CpC and CpNpG sequences can be inherited over several generations (Kakutani, 2002; Jablonka & Raz, 2009; Feil & Fraga, 2012). Methylation of asymmetric CpNpNp trinucleotides is usually considered nonheritable (Jones *et al.*, 2001).

Although the methylome appears to be relatively stable within an individual, it exhibits predictable plastic responses to environmental stimuli (Kinoshita & Jacobsen, 2012; Bond & Baulcombe, 2014). Various biotic and abiotic environmental factors are associated with cytosine methylation induction and establishment of epiallels (Tatra *et al.*, 2000; Hauser *et al.*, 2011; Dowen *et al.*, 2012; Herman & Sultan, 2016). Such environmentally induced change in methylation can vary by genotype (Dubin *et al.*, 2015) and can mediate an adaptive response to stressors in natural populations (Tatra *et al.*, 2000). Together with its multi-generational heritable potential, this makes DNA methylation a prime candidate for transgenerational inheritance (Colicchio *et al.*, 2015a).

1.2.2. Spontaneous cytosine methylation in natural populations

Recent studies have demonstrated that spontaneous DNA methylation occurs in natural plant populations and such naturally emerged epialleles can have phenotypic consequences (Cubas *et al.*, 1999; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Becker *et al.*, 2011; Zhang *et al.*, 2013) and influence a range of characters such as flower shape or plant pigmentation (Cubas *et al.*, 1999; Manning *et al.*, 2006). Spontaneous epimutations appear to accumulate gradually like genetic mutation but with

many orders of magnitude higher frequency and with an evidence of recurrent cycles of forward and reverse mutations fluctuating over relatively short timescales (Bossdorf et al., 2010; Ossowski et al., 2010; Becker et al., 2011). Nevertheless, not all DNA regions are equally prone to epigenetic mutations. Methylation of regulatory regions and of transposable elements exhibits much higher stability compared to gene-bodies methylation likely because mutations in those regions would have much stronger and riskier impact on plant development (Zhang et al., 2006; Vaughn et al., 2007; Lisch, 2009; Ossowski et al., 2010; Becker et al., 2011). In Arabidopsis thaliana, CpG methylation in regulatory sequences has been demonstrated to correlate negatively with gene expression (Zhang et al., 2006; Zilberman et al., 2007), presumably through limiting promoter accessibility (Colicchio et al., 2015a). Gene body CpG methylation, on the contrary, had much softer consequences being found in moderate to highly expressed genes (Gruenbaum et al., 1981; Zilberman et al., 2007; Li et al., 2012). Similarly, DNA methylation has an important role in inhibiting movements of transposable elements, DNA sequences able to change their position within the genome causing possibly mutagenic alternation of DNA chain. Naturally emerged differential DNA methylation therefore tends to occur farther from transposable elements, implying that the density and distribution of transposable elements, which can differ greatly even between closely related species, affect epigenetic variation throughout the genome (Becker et al., 2011; Hollister et al., 2011). However, in studies using experimental demethylation generated by demethylation agent application, it is not possible to rule out the option that at least part of the observed phenotypic variation can result from DNA sequence changes induced by movement of transposable elements (Fieldes & Amyot, 2000; Johannes et al., 2009; Bossdorf et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2013).

1.2.3. Methyltransferases and their functions

DNA methylation is enabled by the functioning of methyltransferases, group of enzymes responsible for recognision of a specific DNA sequence and for catalyses of the transfer of a methyl group from the cofactor S-adenosyl-L-methionine to carbon 5 in the pyrimidine ring of cytosine residue (Kumar *et al.*, 1994; Pavlopoulou & Kossida, 2007). Plant genome methylation consists of two separate activities, which together create the methylome of an individual plant during its onthogeny, reflecting both transgenerational epigenetic inheritance and present

environmental conditions. They are 'maintenance' methylation, providing preservation of existing methylation patterns after DNA replication, and '*de novo*' methylation allowing for emergence of novel epialleles by methylation of previously unmethylated sites (Chen & Li, 2004; Pavlopoulou & Kossida, 2007). So far identified plant C5 methyltransferases are classified into four main families. Domains–rearranged methyltransferases accomplish the function of 'de novo' methylation, while methyltrasferases and chromomethyltransferases presumably procure the 'maintenance' of GpG and CpNpG methylation, respectively. The role of the last family, DNA methyltransferase homologue 2, in DNA methylation remains largely unexplained (Bartee & Bender, 2001; Cao *et al.*, 2003; Pavlopoulou & Kossida, 2007).

1.3. Methods to explore the significance of epigenetic processes

The proportion of phenotypic variation that is brought about by epigenetics alone is hard to assess (Johannes *et al.*, 2009), as some relationship between genetics and epigenetics exists and different genotypes often respond differently to environmental conditions (Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Richards *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Herman & Sultan, 2016). To avoid this problem in epigenetic studies, several research methods were developed. There are advanced molecular methods allowing for direct quantification of epigenetic marks, which require sophisticated and computationally demanding techniques such as real-time PCR (Pecinka *et al.*, 2009), methylation-sensitive amplified fragment length polymorphism (MS-AFLP; Herrera & Bazaga, 2010; Paun *et al.*, 2010; Preite *et al.*, 2015; Foust *et al.*, 2016), whole-genome bisulphite sequencing (WGBS; Becker *et al.*, 2011; Colicchio *et al.*, 2015; van Gurp *et al.*, 2016). Except for RRBS, a full reference genome of the study plant is a pre-requisite for analysing the obtained DNA methylation profiles. However, full genome information is scarce for non-model plants from natural ecosystems (Ellegren, 2014).

Therefore, alternative approaches have been developed to facilitate the research on ecological epigenetics. They are mostly based on experimental altering of the epigenetic status of the study plant (Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010). One of the possibilities is growing epigenetic recombinant inbred lines (epiRILs), created through artificial crossing resulting in populations of nearly identical genetic background but highly variable at the epigenetic level (Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Reinders *et al.*, 2009; Latzel *et al.*, 2012; Zhang *et al.*,

2013). Another method is focused on artificial changing of the DNA cytosine methylation level using chemicals called demethylation agents. Demethylation agents are small biomolecules interacting with methyltransferases, ezymes responsible for incorporating methyl residuals into DNA, and inhibiting their function. Such treatment results in partial demethylation or hemimethylation of the genome (e.g. Jones, 1985; Burn *et al.*, 1993; Tatra *et al.*, 2000). Agents commonly used for experimental reduction of cytosine methylation include zebularine (Baubec *et al.*, 2009; Verhoeven & van Gurp, 2012; Liu *et al.*, 2015; Herman & Sultan, 2016) and 5-azycytidine (Tatra *et al.*, 2000; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Amoah *et al.*, 2012; Vergeer *et al.*, 2012; Rendina González *et al.*, 2016a,b). Comparing treated vs. untreated plants enables testing of the importance of past environmental interactions, or the so-called 'epigenetic memory', on plant phenotypic plasticity (Herman & Sultan, 2016; Rendina González *et al.*, 2016a,b).

1.3.1. Demethylating agent 5-azacytidine

5-azacytidine (5-azaC) is a chemical analogue of cytidine, a nucleoside in RNA and DNA. It was originally developed as a drug for cancer treatment (Čihák, 1974; Jones, 1985). At low doses, it inhibits DNA methyltransferases, which can be used in non-clinical studies for in vitro removal of methyl groups from DNA (Martens, 2014). 5-azaC incorporates into DNA in place of cytidine nucleoside during replication; there it forms covalent complexes with methylteransferase group MET1 and thereby inhibit its function, which results in overall DNA hypomethylation (Santi et al., 1983; Burn et al., 1993; Cheng et al., 2005; Baubec et al., 2009; Bossdorf et al., 2010; Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). Specific interference of 5-azaC with MET1 gives it a special desirable quality. MET1 is known to mediate 'maintenance' methylation of CpG site, which are associated with exonic DNA in plant (Finnegan, 1996; Saze et al., 2003; Reinders et al., 2009; Amoah et al., 2012). Thus, demethylation by 5-azaC can provide a selective targeting of coding-sequence (Amoah et al., 2012), moreover, deleting originally present methylation patterns in gene bodies. Another obvious advantage of using a demethylation agent for experimental demethylation is the possibility to create and compare different epigenetic variants of the same genotype. Thanks to relatively simple applicability and processability of such demethylation method it allows for analyzes of a solid amount of samples and so for generalization across different genetic backgrounds as well as for multi-factorial experiments (Bossdorf et al., 2010).

Nevertheless, usage of 5-azaC is joined with several important negatives. The most crucial limitation of the demethylating agent is its toxicity to seeds germinated even in low concentrations of the chemical (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Amoah *et al.*, 2012). Plants grown from treated seeds exhibit various grow-related aberrations including dwarfism and radical reduction of root development leading to decreased fitness and viability of plant (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Kondo *et al.*, 2007; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Amoah *et al.*, 2012; Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). There has also been demonstrated a substantial influence of 5-azaC on flowering time initiation (Burn *et al.*, 1993; Fieldes & Amyot, 1999; Kondo *et al.*, 2007). All these side effect of 5-azaC complicate its applicability in ecological epigenetic research, as they can confound the conclusions driven from observed phenotypic differences between treated and untreated plants. The other problematic quality to be mentioned is the toxicity of the chemical for human., especially negative effect on male germ cells have been reported (Doerksen & Trasler, 1996; Doerksen *et al.*, 2000; Tunc & Tremellen, 2009). Therefore, the chemical should be treated with utmost caution, particularly because it requires daily preparation of fresh solution due to its instability in water environment.

1.4. Aims of the thesis

The first aim of this thesis was to test the efficiency of a novel method of experimental demethylation with potentially less disturbing effects on the study plant development. While according to the traditional approach plant seeds are soaked in the water solution of 5-azaC during 10 days of germination (Vergeer *et al.*, 2012), the novel method is based on daily spraying of the 5-azaC solution of the same concentration on plant seedlings after 10 days of germination in pure water. It was hypothesized that later application of the chemical after establishment of the principal organs could reduce the developmental damage, particularly allow for normal root development, which was the crucial limitation of survival in the germinating method (Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). A climabox experiment was designed to demonstrate that the spray application method is able to overcome the growth-related limitations of the germinating method while maintaining demethylating efficiency.

The second aim was to search for heritable epigenetic effects induced by maternal competition in *Taraxacum brevicorniculatum* by measuring growth related traits, which appear to be particularly important during early stages of offspring development (e.g. Metz *et al.*, 2015;

Vu *et al.*, 2015; Walter *et al.*, 2016). In this experiment an interspecific and intraspecific competition was used as a biotic environmental factor affecting the development of the parental population of *T. brevicorniculatum* in the greenhouse. Collected seeds were germinated and grown in control conditions of a growing chamber, where a half of the germinating seedlings was experimentally demethylated using the novel spraying application of 5-azaC solution. Differences in functional traits in early stages of development were evaluated among the progeny of different parental treatments and between progeny of the same parental treatment but with different methylation status (treated vs. untreated with 5-azaC) to demonstrate the impact of the strength of maternal competition on the early development of progeny and the ability of 5-azaC spray application to remove the plant 'epigenetic memory', respectively.

2. Methods

Two separate experiments were conducted (1) to compare the effectiveness and favourableness of the proposed novel method of experimental DNA demethylation via 5-azacytidine spray application with the traditionally used germinating method and (2) to test for the effect of parental plant competition on early developments of progeny through heritable DNA methylation.

2.1. Study species and seed material

Taraxacum brevicorniculatum Korol. was used as the focal species in both experiments. *T. brevicorniculatum* is a Central Asian species, whose all available *ex situ* seed collections were recognised to belong to a single triploid apomictic clone (Kirschner *et al.*, 2013). Genetically identical seeds collected from a greenhouse-grown population of plants experiencing equal conditions for several generations and genetically identified by Kirschner *et al.*, 2013 were obtained for these experiments. This strategy reduced the effect of genetic and epigenetic variation in the experimental seed samples and the obligate apomixes of the species allowed for further control of the genetic uniformity during the experiments. It should be noticed that, although *T. brevicorniculatum*, is not itself typical from Central European flora, it owns to the group of *T. ruderalia*, being functionally similar to species present in the Central European

flora. Its advantage over local species is that all individuals are genetically identical, so that it can be better employed for studies on maternal effects.

2.2. Experiment 1 – comparison of spraying vs. germinating treatment for experimental demethylation

2.2.1. Experimental design

Seeds used in this experiment were the first generation progeny of the seeds obtained from Kirschner et al., 2013, that were grown in a greenhouse without competition in the NC treatment of the Experiment 2 (see below). Seeds were thoroughly mixed, and 300 of them were randomly selected and divided into three treatment groups: germination, spraying and control treatments. One hundred seeds received the germinating treatment (G treatment), where seeds were germinated on filter paper with 5-azaC solution in Petri dishes of 8 cm diameter (Bossdorf et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2010; Vergeer et al., 2012). The filter paper was saturated daily with a 50 µM aqueous solution of 5-azaC (Sigma-Aldrich, Prague, Czech Republic) for 10 days. Thirty-three successfully germinated seeds were picked randomly and subsequently grown in individual pots (square-shaped pots of 7×7 cm and 18 cm depth) for another three weeks without further 5-azaC addition. For the spraying approach (S treatment), 100 seeds were first germinated on filter paper in Petri dishes saturated with water for 10 days. 33 of these seedlings were then transferred into individual pots, where they received the novel demethylation treatment in which 5-azaC solution was sprayed onto the leaves. Specifically, each seedling in the S treatment was sprayed with a 50 µM aqueous solution of 5-azaC on a daily basis for three weeks. For the control group (C treatment) 100 seeds were germinated in water for 10 days (as described for the S treatment) and then 33 seedlings were transplanted into individual pots and grown without any application of the demethylation solution for three weeks.

It should be noted that a drop of surfactant (in the form of liquid soap) was added to the 5-azaC solution in the spraying method for lowering surface tension, ensuring an even layer of the demethylation agent on the leaf surface. The same amount of surfactant and water solution was also sprayed daily onto the plants of the other two treatments (G and C) to exclude possible confounding effects of the surfactant. Sand was used as the potting substrate in all cases to facilitate root removal during the harvest. Plants were grown in a chamber with a 12 h (20 $^{\circ}$ C) /

12 h (10 °C) light/darkness and temperature regime, and watered regularly to keep the substrate moist. The initial position of all 99 pots in the chamber was randomized to ensure uniform growing conditions.

2.2.2. Plant morphological measurements

The effect of the G treatment (germination on filter paper saturated with 5-azaC solution) on seedling morphology in early stages of development was assessed by measuring shoot and root traits of 25 randomly selected 10-day-old seedlings. These seedlings were compared to 50 of those germinated in pure water (25 from the S and 25 from the C treatment, which were virtually equivalent up to that point). Total root length (cm) and leaf area (mm²) were estimated based on scanned images of the seedlings. The seedlings used for these measurements were not transplanted to pots afterwards.

After transplantation into pots, those plants that were transplanted into pots (n = 99) were grown for three weeks and then 96 were harvested (3 individuals in the G treatment died). The plant material was dried at 60 °C and the aboveground biomass weighted.

In addition, 10 C-S plant pairs form the progeny generation of the NC treatment (no competition) in the Experiment 2 were used to show impact of the spray treatment on the vegetative traits after 6 weeks of its daily application. These seedlings were grown from seeds of the same harvest and in the same growth chamber conditions as those previously mentioned. Two leaves from each plant were collected, and their water-saturated fresh mass and dry mass estimated to compute leaf dry matter content (LDMC; the ratio of leaf dry mass to leaf fresh mass, mg/g). Further, the aerial and root biomass of each of these plants was separated, and their final biomass estimated after drying at 60 °C.

2.2.3. DNA extraction and genome-wide DNA methylation estimation

To assess differences in genome-wide DNA methylation between treatments, DNA was extracted from the plants from the three-week experiment. We used both shoots and roots for the DNA extraction, as plants were still small at the time of harvest. Plant material was pulverized with 2-mm stainless steel beads in a Mixer Mill MM400 (Retch GmbH, Haan, Germany) and the DNA was extracted using the NucleoSpin Plant II Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany)

according to the manufacturer's protocol. The amount of DNA was evaluated using Qubit Fluorimeter and Qubit dsDNA BR Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Finally, genome-wide DNA methylation was quantified by measuring the amount of 5-methylcytosine (5-mC) from the DNA extracts using the Colorimetric MethylFlash Methylated DNA Quantification Kit (Epigentek Group Inc., Farmingdale, NY, USA). The absorbance of the ELISA-like assay (ELISA - enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay) was measured on the Infinite® F200 microplate reader (Tecan Trading AG, Männedorf, Switzerland). We quantified the absolute amount of genome-wide methylated DNA by first generating a standard curve, following the manufacturer's instructions (i.e. six 5-mC concentration points including a zero point); the slope of that curve was then used to estimate the percentage of methylated DNA. This percentage was estimated in two independent replicates of each sample, and the measurement error was calculated by dividing the difference in methylation between the two replicates by the sum of the two methylation values. The percentage of measurement variation was averaged over all the data.

2.2.4. Statistical analyses

The effect of the treatments on the percentage of methylated DNA was analysed taking into consideration the two estimates for each individual, by means of a mixed effects model with binomial errors. In this model the identity of the individual was used as a random factor. An ANOVA was used to analyse the effects of the treatments on the final aboveground biomass of the seedlings. In both cases, a post hoc Tukey test was performed to see whether pairs of treatments differed significantly (P < 0.05).

Differences between plant traits in different treatments were evaluated both in the 10day-old seedlings (G vs. C treatments; seedling root length and leaf area) and in the plants grown for 6 weeks in pots (S vs. C treatments; root and aerial biomass, and LDMC). These differences were analysed by means of t-tests in the case of the seedlings (root length was logtransformed to achieve normality), and paired t-tests in the case of the potted plants. All analyses were conducted using R v3.2.3 (R Core Team 2016).

2.3. Experiment 2 – test of the effect of parental competition on progeny's early development

2.3.1. Experimental design – maternal generation

For the purpose of growing a maternal population of the study plant Taraxacum brevicorniculatum experiencing various levels and kinds of competition a greenhouse experiment was established. 10 common Central European meadow species from 4 different functional groups were chosen for competitors. Functional group of tall forbs was represented by Achillea millefolium, Leontodon hispidus and Plantago lanceolata, short forbs were represented by Dianthus deltoids, Plantago media and Prunella vulgaris, legumes were exemplified by Lotus corniculatus and Trifolium pratense, and finally Alopecurus pratensis with Holcus lanatus stood for grasses. Genetically identical Taraxacum seeds of uniform environmental background were obtained from Kirschner et al., 2013. Seeds of the competitor plants were ordered from a seed company (Planta naturalis, Markvartice u Sobotky, Czech Republic). All seeds were germinated in water in a growing chamber (12 h (20 °C) / 12 h (10 °C) light/darkness and temperature regime) for 2 weeks and then transplanted into round pots of 2 liter volume and situated in a greenhouse. Mixture of commercial lawn soil and sand in the ratio 1:1 was used as the growing substrate. Plants were grown in following combinations and replications per combination: zero competition conditions (1 Taraxacum plant in the center of the pot; no competition treatment -NC) in 16 replicates, intraspecific competition (1 central Taraxacum surrounded by 6 other Taraxacum plants; intraspecific treatment – Intra) in 8 replicates, interspecific competition with one species competitor (1 central Taraxacum surrounded by 6 individuals of one of the competitor species; single competitor treatment - SC) in 8 replicates for the 10 possible competitors and interspecific competition with 6 species competitors (1 central *Taraxacum* surrounded by 6 competitors of 6 different species; functional diversity treatment - FD) in 5 replicates for each of the 8 designed combinations of species (Tab. I.). Combinations of competitors were selected with respect to their functional distance. Plants were watered in the trays with frequency depending on the weather conditions, to minimize water stress. The maternal generation was grown in the greenhouse for 9 weeks from late May till the end of July; temperature or light conditions were not regulated in the

greenhouse. Pots were distributed randomly to balance spatial heterogeneity of growing conditions.

2.3.2. Seed collection and biomass yield

During the last week of the greenhouse experiment, all mature seeds of the central *Taraxacum* plants were collected daily. Finally, seeds of all replicates of each treatment were mixed together, 25 seeds of each treatment were randomly picked 10 times, weighed and used for the estimation of the average seed weight of each treatment. Seeds were stored in a fridge to be used for later planting of progeny generation of known parental competitive conditions. Dry biomass yields ($80 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C} / 48 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{h}$) of the focal *Taraxacum* plants were assessed at the time of harvest to estimate the intensity of competition experienced by the focal *Taraxacum*.

2.3.3. Experimental design – offspring generation

Seeds of each of the 20 maternal competitive conditions ($10 \times SC + 1 \times Intra + 1 \times NC + 8 \times FD$; see Tab. I.) were thoroughly mixed, several seeds (to ensure establishment of at least one individual) of the same maternal treatment were sown in the middle of an individual pot (square-shaped pots of 7×7 cm and 18 cm depth) and placed in a growing chamber (12 h (20 °C) / 12 h (10 °C) light/darkness and temperature regime). After germination of the first seed in a pot, this seedling was noted and further watched, all additional sprouts were removed to set standardized non-competition conditions with one individual per pot. Pots were organized in 10 blocks to assure equal growing condition. Each block included 20 pots with seedlings of all maternal treatments (Tab. I) arranged randomly within one tray and another tray with 20 pots copying the treatment positions of the previous one. One of the trays in each block was daily demethylated by the means of spray application of 50 μ M 5-azaC (+ surfactant), the other tray was only sprayed with water solution of surfactant to exclude possible confounding effects of the surfactant. The 5-azaC treatment started to be applied after germination initiated in all the pots. Sand was used as the potting substrate to facilitate the root removal. Plants were watered regularly (every second day) to keep the substrate moist. The offspring generation all together counted for 400 pots with one individual per pot (20 maternal treatments by 2 in 10 blocks).

2.3.4. Measurements of the early development traits of the progeny

Two growth related traits, number of leaves and rosette diameter, started to be measured on the day of the first application of 5-azaC (day 0) and continued to be measured every 4 days until the day 36 and then for the last time on the day 42. At the time of the harvest, various aboveand belowground vegetative traits were estimated. Root and aerial biomass and LDMC estimates of NC maternal treatment progeny was used for the demonstration of resetting plant memory by 5-azaC spray application in Experiment 1. Analyzes of the other final traits are not included in this thesis.

2.3.5. Computations and statistical analyses

Dry biomass of the maternal *Taraxacum* generation was used to assess the strength of competition experienced by the focal plant in different treatments through computing the relative interaction index (RII; Eq. 1) for mean biomass yield of each treatment proposed by Armas *et al.* (2004):

$$RII = \frac{B_w - B_o}{B_w - B_o}$$

Equation 1

In the equation, B_o represents a trait value of a target plant growing in absence of inter- or intraspecific competition (mean biomass of *Taraxacum* from NC treatment in this case), while B_w represents a trait value observed when a target individual is growing in interaction with other plants (mean biomass of *Taraxacum* from Intra, SC1-10 and FD1-8 treatments successively). Values of the RII range from -1 to 1, being positive in predominance of facilitation and negative in predominance of competition.

Two different growth rates were estimated in each pot, including number of leaves and rosette diameter, respectively. In order to get an indication of the temporal evolution of these rates, they were estimated considering different time periods, always starting on the day 0 (first day of 5-azaC application) and finishing on days 16, 20, 24, 28, 32, 36 and 42. This way, the growth rates estimated on the day 16 (D16 in Fig. 4) included the data from days 0, 4, 8, 12 and 16, whereas the growth rates estimated on the day 42 (D42 in Fig. 4) included all the available

data (from day 0 to day 42 measured in periods of 4 days, except of the last measurement conducted with 6 day distance). Growth rate in the rosette diameter in each pot was then estimated as the slope of a linear regression where diameter was the response variable and time in days the explanatory variable. Leafing rate was calculated in a similar way, but using a regression with a Poisson distribution, since number of leaves can only have positive integer values.

Then, the relationship between the level of competition experienced by the mother plant (RII) and the growth rates estimated at the different times periods was analyzed. On that account, for each considered day of measurement each type of growth rate was regressed on RII by the means of a mixed model, where RII was used as a fixed effects variable and the block identity as a random factor. The relationship was considered significant, when P < 0.05. Models were run separately for plants with and without 5-azaC treatment.

Since the level of competition can also affect the size of the seeds produced by the mother plant, which in turn can potentially have an effect on the development of seedlings, the seed mass was included as a covariate in all the models. All analyses were conducted using R v3.2.3 (R Core Team 2016).

3. **Results**

3.1. Experiment 1 – comparison of spraying vs. germinating treatment for experimental demethylation

Compared to the C treatment, DNA methylation was significantly reduced in both treatments using the 5-azaC demethylation agent, either during germination (Tukey post hoc test germinating treatment vs. control, G vs. C, P = 0.005), or by spraying leaves of established seedlings (spraying vs. control, S vs. C, P = 0.041). Most importantly, no difference was found in the levels of DNA methylation between the germinating and the spraying demethylation approaches (S vs. G, P = 0.257; Fig. 1a). The measurement error in the estimations of DNA methylation was 6.04 %, which does not question the detected decline of DNA methylation counting for about 20 % in both demethylating treatments.

There were no significant differences in the final aboveground plant biomass between the spraying treatment and the control (S vs. C; Fig. 1b). The germinating treatment (G), on the contrary, substantially decreased plant performance in terms of final aboveground biomass (P < 0.001; Fig. 1b), both in relation to the control and to the spraying treatment. Seedlings that germinated in 5-azaC solution developed roots remarkably smaller than seeds that germinated in water (C vs. G t-test: t = 43.967, df = 65.63, P < 0.001; Fig. 1c and Fig. 2), as well as smaller leaves (t = 2.228, df = 44.86, P = 0.031; Fig. 1d and Fig. 2).

Finally, no difference were detected in subsequent development between the spraying treatment and the control, either in final aboveground biomass (paired t-test C vs. S: t = -1.235, df = 9, P = 0.248; Fig. 3a), in final belowground biomass (t = -1.543, df = 9, P = 0.157; Fig. 3b), or in LDMC (t = 0.467, df = 9, P = 0.652; Fig. 3c).

3.2. Experiment 2 – test of the effect of parental competition on progeny's early development

The relationship between the strength of maternal competition (RII) and the growth rate estimated with leafing was found significant in normally methylated plants, but not in demethylated ones. Leafing rate of plants without 5-azaC treatment increased in response to declining RII in all considered time periods of 16 - 42 days (P₁ = 0.012, 0.008, 0.049, 0.012, 0.03, 0.046 and 0.032, respectively; Fig. 4a, untreated). On the contrary, no significant effect was found between RII and leafing rate in demethylated plants (P₁ = 0.466, 0.326, 0.397, 0.327, 0.272, 0.309 and 0.305, respectively; Fig. 4a, 5-azaC treated). When seed mass was used to explain the variability in leafing rate of untreated plants, positive significant correlation occurred in time periods of 16, 20 and 28 days (P₂ = 0.019, 0.048 and 0.049, respectively; Fig. 4a, untreated). Time periods of 24, 32, 36 and 42 days showed no correlation between seed mass and leafing rate (P₂ = 0.12, 0.122, 0.2 and 0.154, respectively; Fig. 4a, untreated). Similarly, no significant effect of seed mass on leafing was found in the demethylated plants in all time periods (P₂ = 0.218, 0.122, 0.16, 0.09, 0.103, 0.133, 0.156, respectively; Fig. 4a, 5-azaC treated).

In terms of rosette diameter, significant effects were found neither in response to RII (P_1 = 0.644, 0.57, 0.538, 0.583, 0.577, 0.539 and 0.482, respectively; Fig. 4b, untreated) nor in

response to seed mass ($P_2 = 0.084$, 0.113, 0.136, 0.145, 0.205, 0.341 and 0.592, respectively; Fig. 4b, untreated) in normally methylated plants. Accordingly, there were no correlations with any explanatory variable in demethylation treatment, either ($P_1 = 0.425$, 0.434, 0.444, 0.47, 0.662, 0.687 and 0.817, $P_2 = 0.202$, 0.204, 0.208, 0.218, 0.15, 0.194 and 0.292, respectively; Fig. 4b, 5-azaC treated).

4. Discussion

4.1. Relevance of the 5-azaC spray application to recent ecological epigenetic research

Studying the epigenetic background of transgenerational effects is of growing importance in the field of plant ecology and evolution, as it can reveal the role of intraspecific trait plasticity in heritable plant adaptation to certain environment. Epigenome is relatively plastic compared to DNA sequence; epigenetic changes can be induced by biotic and abiotic factors and stay heritable over several generations. Observing the presence of epigenetic marks, therefore, introduces a great potential for research on adaptation and microevolution of plants. The experimental alteration of the level of DNA methylation in the offspring of plants from different environmental conditions appears to be a favourable method to explore the significance of epigenetic processes, with DNA methylation being one of the most common epigenetic marks. For that reason, demethylation agents such as 5-azacytidine are frequently used, being easy to apply, efficient in removing methylation marks, allowing for reasonable control and for generalization over various genotypes (Bossdorf et al., 2010). Traditionally, seeds of the target plant are germinated in water solution of 5-azaC for several days. Nevertheless, most studies using this method of application recorded serious development aberrations leading to lowered biomass yield and viability of the treated plants, which can substantially bias trait measurements and conclusions drawn from them (Akimoto et al., 2007; Kondo et al., 2007; Bossdorf et al., 2010; Amoah et al., 2012; Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). Substantial part of the decline in fitness can be explained by especially poor development of roots (Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). For the purpose of overcoming the side effects of otherwise efficient and practical research method, a novel way of 5-azaC application was proposed and tested in this study. The novel application consists of spraying 5-azaC on already established seedlings previously

germinated in pure water for 10 days. As 5-azaC causes stochastic demethylation of random loci throughout the whole genome, some of the impaired sites can have crucial effect on the establishment of basic organs at the very beginning of the development (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007). Thereby, application after the initiation of a viable seedling could potentially prevent the fundamental growth limitations.

The present study tested for both efficiency and growth related effects of the spray application demethylation method. The reduction of the DNA methylation after application of 5-azaC showed comparable for the traditional germinating method and the novel spraying method (about 20% reduction), demonstrating equal efficiency of both methods (Fig. 1a). However, significant differences were detected in terms of prosperity of the seedlings. After 10 days of germination in 5-azaC solution (G treatment) vs. pure water (C and S treatment), the roots of the G treatment were markedly impaired in comparison to the rest of the plants (C and S treatments did not differ at his stage of the experiment, Fig. 2). The leaf area was also negatively affected after 10 days of germination in 5-azaC (Fig. 1d), referring to deficiency even in aboveground growth. The differences between treatments remained evident during the further development in pots; plants of the G treatment struggled to establish properly in the substrate and eventually started dying after 3 weeks. Contrastingly, the S treatment did not exhibit any visible differences compared to the control, which was confirmed by no significant distinction between the final biomass in S and C. G treatment, on the contrary, substantially decreased final plant biomass relative to both C and S (Fig. 1b). No negative effect of S treatment on plant functional traits was found even during the 'long-term' growth. There was no significant divergence in aerial biomass, root biomass or LDMC between S treatment and the control in 6 weeks old plants (Fig. 3), implying that the spray application of demethylation agent could allow normal growth of treated plants, while providing an efficient demethylation of their genome.

Differences between germinating and spray application of 5-azaC can have several explanation. DNA methylation marks can newly alter gene expression but also control the integrity of genome and stable expression of methylated sites over generations. Violation of the epigenome by experimental demethylation can have crucial consequences for the initial organ establishment in germinating seed. Furthermore, DNA methylation stabilizes the position of

nearby transposable elements, whose mobilization leads to induced change in DNA sequence (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Kondo *et al.*, 2007; Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Amoah *et al.*, 2012; Kanchanaketu & Hongtrakul, 2015). Finally, the possibility of classical mutations to primary DNA sequence induced by 5-azaC influence cannot be excluded as source of morphological differences between treatments (Fieldes & Amyot, 2000). However, this is highly unlikely since an absorbance-based ELISA-like assay showed notable and comparable hypomethylation levels in both of the demethylation treatments, not only in the G treatment where the growth aberrations occurred. More in-depth molecular methods such as AFLP and MS-AFLP could be employed to disentangle the effects of 5-azaC, both on the underlying DNA sequence and its methylation patterns.

The spray application of 5-azaC is a practical and feasible way of *in vivo* alternation of plant epigenetic status, which makes it a very promising method for manipulation studies of ecological and evolutionary potential of epigenetic variation. It is especially valuable for experimental manipulation of non-model species (Verhoeven *et al.*, 2016), where the genomic sequence is not available, and of clonal plants (Rendina González et al., 2016b), where the epiRILs cannot be created. However, it is important to stress that the method was only tested on broad-leaved herb species T. brevicorniculatum, which may absorb 5-azaC solution through leaves more easily than species with needle-like leaves and/or leaves with thick cuticles, which may prevent absorbance of the solution. Therefore, in the case of using some potentially problematic species, a pilot study should be designed to verify the most adequate demethylation technique. Finally, a few studies indicate that the effects of demethylation agents can be transient since DNA methylation marks could be restored in somatic tissues formed after cessation of the treatment (Kumpatla & Hall, 1998; Baubec et al., 2009). In this case, applying 5-azaC solution only during the germination of seeds might not be enough to ensure the stable status of DNA demethylation in long-lasting experiments. Therefore, the proposed method of spraying 5-azaC solution onto the plants throughout the duration of the experiment will likely guarantee more stable and potentially inheritable demethylation effects.

The present experiment provides the first proper test of the spray application of 5-azaC on already established seedlings. Nevertheless, previous to this validation, the spray method was already successfully used in the study by Rendina González *et al.* (2016b) for resetting plant

memory in clonal species *Trifolium repens*. Rendina González *et al.* demonstrated that offspring ramets can 'remember' parental stress conditions (different drought levels and intensities) and reflect them by differences in growth parameters after transplanting to control conditions. The study further proved that this parentaly induced variation of offspring growth was erased when the parental plant was sprayed by 5-azaC preceding the ramet detachment. The second experiment included in this thesis also focused on transgenerational memory of maternal conditions and its resetting by 5-azaC application. However, in this case the apomictic species *T. brevicorniculatum* was used as the focal plant with controlled genetic background and different kinds and levels of competition represented the parental stress conditions.

4.2. The role of parental competitive conditions in progeny's early development

Competition is one of the poorly explored yet important biotic factors inducing transgenerational effects, as shown by Zuppinger-Dingley *et al.* (2014). Their study clearly demonstrated that parental competitive conditions meaningfully modulate the phenotype representation of individual species in future generations of the community. However, in the multi-generational field experiment by Zuppinger-Dingley *et al.* (2014), it was not possible to disentangle the role of selection effects (i.e. the individuals with less fit genotypes being excluded from a community) and potential transgenerational effects in response to plant-plant interactions. For this reason, the experiment 2 in this thesis was designed only to assess the latter.

In case of this thesis experiment, an effect of maternal competition on early development of the direct progeny was evaluated. Some studies indicate, that the transgenerational effects are particularly important in the early stages of development (Metz *et al.*, 2015; Vu *et al.*, 2015; Walter *et al.*, 2016). It can be explained, for example, by the lack of own environmental experience that would overweight the parental one, nevertheless, this should not happen in the control conditions. Transgenerational effect that are not supported by experiencing similar environmental conditions to the parental ones can shade off with time but there are studies demonstrating that these effects are rather persistent even over several generations of control conditions (Fieldes & Amyot, 1999; Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Johannes *et al.*, 2009). Most importantly, some authors imply that strong transgenerational effects in the juvenile stages are caused by variances in maternal seed provisioning (Roach & Wulff, 1987b; Weiner *et al.*, 1997; Latzel & Klimešová, 2010). Seed size is known to influence seed germination, seedling size and seedling competitive ability meaningfully (Roach & Wulff, 1987b). However, the correlation between seed mass and parental competitive conditions in not clear. Older studies argue that the importance of seed provisioning on seedling development should be increased in presence of competition (Wulff, 1986; Kromer & Gross, 1987; Aarssen & Burton, 1990). Weiner et al. (1997) tested for this effect of parental competition on seed provisioning and subsequent seed development. They confirmed positive correlation between seed mass and initial growth of seedling, nevertheless, this effect was not accelerated by competition. Moreover, they found no significant relationship between seed mass and different competitive treatments. The effects of seed provisioning on seedling development decreased over time. Similar result was demonstrated in Latzel & Klimešová (2010), who established a long-term study to follow the significance of seed quality and epigenetics for the ecology of perennial species. They suggest that seed provisioning might be of significant importance during the juvenile development but gradually disappears. Meanwhile, environmental effects pronounced by epigenetic marks outweigh the seed influence after some time and remain important even over several generations (Latzel & Klimešová, 2010).

The study presented in this thesis demonstrated significant influence of both maternal competition and seed mass on the rate of leaf initiation during first 6 weeks of established seedling development. These explanatory variables were evaluated together and separately, showing that the effect of maternal competition is not overridden by the effect of seed mass. The strength of maternal competition affected the leafing rate positively, i. e. the rougher competitive conditions (the more negative RII) the faster development of leaves (Fig. 4a, untreated). Such result indicates the tendency of seedlings coming from harsher competition to grow faster in order to gain size advantage before the plant interactions start to limit them. In terms of seed mass, negative correlation with the level of maternal competition was found, i. e. mothers exposed to stronger competition produced lighter seeds. This correlation in inconsistent with Weiner *et al.* (1997), who found no interaction between seed mass and experienced competition and was suggesting that reproductive output can only response through the number of seeds. However, it is also inconsistent with the preceding studies predicting mutually reinforcing effects of seed mass and competition (Wulff, 1986; Kromer & Gross, 1987; Aarssen & Burton, 1990). Hereby presented relationship between these two factors imply that effects of

seed mass and competition on the seedling development have opposing effects that actually weaken each other during the first weeks of development. Nevertheless, in agreement with both Latzel & Klimešová (2010) and Weiner *et al.* (1997), influence of the seed mass was found to decrease with time, being significant in the 1st, 2nd and 4th time period, appearing insignificant in the 3rd time period and remaining consistently insignificant throughout the 5th, 6th and 7th time period (Fig. 4a, untreated). The effect of the level of competition alone, on the contrary, exhibited significantly positive correlation with the leafing rate through all the 6 weeks of the experiment, suggesting that the biotic effect of competition affects plant development also in later stages, when seed provisioning influence has already disappeared (Latzel & Klimešová, 2010).

Further, the same analysis of the relationship between leafing rate and competition level and leafing rate and seed mass was applied on plants treated with the novel demethylation method, spray application of 5-azaC. Plants with removed methylation mark, however, exhibited no significant relationship between leafing rate and any of the two biotic factors (Fig. 4a, 5-azaC treated). This result indicates that demethylation managed to delete substantial part of the plant memory, supporting the idea that meaningful part of adaptive transgenerational effects works on epigenetic bases.

The absence of significant results for rosette diameter as a growth rate trait suggests that it may not be a good characteristic of the response to parental competition during early development of progeny. It cannot be excluded that response of this trait would express in later stages of development. However, it is also possible that the horizontal space limitations were of minor importance in the parental generation conditions.

Only a minor part of the second experiment was presented in this thesis, there were obtained additional data for later consideration and further analyses. This first outcome rather gives the first insight in a broader study of competitively induced transgenerational effects, which could enhance the ecological and evolutionary research with more relevant analyses in the future.

5. Conclusions

- 1) The novel method of spray application of 5-azaC solution on established seedling outstripped the traditional approach of germinating seeds in 5-azaC solution owing to elimination of negative effect on seedling growth related traits frequently associated with the germinating method. At the same time, the spray method proved equal to the germinating one in terms on demethylation efficiency. Therefore, the spray method of experimental demethylation can be recommended for future ecological epigenetic studies. Experiments using this method can potentially create ecologically more robust link between epigenetic variation and changes in plant phenotype, behaviour, or response to environmental stress.
- 2) Positive correlation between the strength of maternal competition (RII) and the rate of leaf initiation in early stages of *T. brevicorniculatum* development demonstrated transgenerational link between competition-induced stress in maternal generation and phenotypic change in progeny generation.
- 3) The seed mass correlated negatively with the strength of maternal competition, reducing the effect of RII on the leafing rate of progeny by advantaging seedlings coming from less competitive treatments. The effect of the seed mass disappeared after about 4 weeks of the measurement, while the effect of RII on the leafing rate persisted over all 6 weeks of the experiment. This suggests the maternal competition to be a longer-term biotic effect than the seed mass.
- 4) The spray application of 5-azaC managed to delete the 'epigenetic memory' in the *T*. *brevicorniculatum* seedlings, which showed no significant correlation between the leafing rate and RII or the seed mass under the demethylation treatment. It confirms that DNA methylation is one of the key epigenetic marks involved in transgenerational effects.

6. References

Aarssen LW, Burton SM. 1990. Maternal effects at four levels in Senecio vulgaris(Asteraceae) grown on a soil nutrient gradient. *American Journal of Botany* 77: 1231–1240.

Agrawal AA. **2002**. Herbivory and maternal effects: Mechanisms and consequences of transgenerational induced plant resistance. *Ecology* **83**: 3408–3415.

Agrawal A a, Laforsch C, Tollrian R. 1999. Transgenerational induction of defences in animals and plants. *Nature* 401: 60–63.

Akimoto K, Katakami H, Kim H-J, Ogawa E, Sano CM, Wada Y, Sano H. 2007. Epigenetic inheritance in rice plants. *Annals of botany* **100**: 205–217.

Amoah S, Kurup S, Rodriguez Lopez CM, Welham SJ, Powers SJ, Hopkins CJ, Wilkinson MJ, King GJ. 2012. A Hypomethylated population of Brassica rapa for forward and reverse Epi-genetics. *BMC Plant Biology* 12: 193.

Armas C, Ordiales R, Pugnaire FI. 2004. Measuring plant interactions: A new comparative index. *Ecology* **85**: 2682–2686.

Bartee L, Bender J. **2001**. Two Arabidopsis methylation-deficiency mutations confer only partial effects on a methylated endogenous gene family. *Nucleic acids research* **29**: 2127–2134.

Baubec T, Pecinka A, Rozhon W, Mittelsten Scheid O. **2009**. Effective, homogeneous and transient interference with cytosine methylation in plant genomic DNA by zebularine. *Plant Journal* **57**: 542–554.

Becker C, Hagmann J, Müller J, Koenig D, Stegle O, Borgwardt K, Weigel D. 2011. Spontaneous epigenetic variation in the Arabidopsis thaliana methylome. *Nature* **480**: 245–249.

Bird A. 2007. Perceptions of epigenetics. Nature 447: 396-8.

Bond DM, Baulcombe DC. **2014**. Small RNAs and heritable epigenetic variation in plants. *Trends in Cell Biology* **24**: 100–107.

Bossdorf O, Arcuri D, Richards CL, Pigliucci M. 2010. Experimental alteration of DNA

methylation affects the phenotypic plasticity of ecologically relevant traits in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Evolutionary Ecology* **24**: 541–553.

Bossdorf O, Richards CL, Pigliucci M. 2008. Epigenetics for ecologists. *Ecology Letters* **11**: 106–115.

Burn JE, Bagnall DJ, Metzger JD, Dennis ES, Peacock WJ. **1993**. DNA methylation, vernalization, and the initiation of flowering. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **90**: 287–291.

Cao X, Aufsatz W, Zilberman D, Mette MF, Huang MS, Matzke M, Jacobsen SE. 2003. Role of the DRM and CMT3 Methyltransferases in RNA-Directed DNA Methylation. *Current Biology* **13**: 2212–2217.

Colicchio JM, Miura F, Kelly JK, Ito T, Hileman LC. 2015a. DNA methylation and gene expression in Mimulus guttatus. *BMC genomics* 16: 507.

Colicchio JM, Monnahan PJ, Kelly JK, Hileman LC. **2015b**. Gene expression plasticity resulting from parental leaf damage in Mimulus guttatus. *New Phytologist* **205**: 894–906.

Correns C. 1909. Vererbungsversuche mit blass (gelb) grunen und buntblattrigen sippen bei Mirabilis jalapa, Urtica pilulifera und Lunaria annua. *Z. Vererbungs.* **1**: 291–329.

Cubas P, Vincent C, Coen E. **1999**. An epigenetic mutation responsible for natural variation in floral symmetry. *Nature* **401**: 157–161.

Čihák A. 1974. Biological effects of 5-azacytidine in eukaryotes. Oncology: 405–422.

Doerksen T, Benoit G, Trasler JM. **2000**. Deoxyribonucleic acid hypomethylation of male germ cells by mitotic and meiotic exposure to 5-azacytidine is associated with altered testicular histology. *Endocrinology* **141**: 3235–3244.

Doerksen T, Trasler JM. **1996**. Developmental exposure of male germ cells to 5-azacytidine results in abnormal preimplantation development in rats. *Biology of reproduction* **55**: 1155–1162.

Donohue K, Schmitt J. 1998. Maternal environmental effects: adaptive plasticity? In:

Mousseau TA,, In: Fox CW, eds. Maternal Effects as Adaptations. Oxford University Press, 137–158.

Dowen RH, Pelizzola M, Schmitz RJ, Lister R, Dowen JM, Nery JR, Dixon JE, Ecker JR.
2012. Widespread dynamic DNA methylation in response to biotic stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109: E2183-91.

Dubin MJ, Zhang P, Meng D, Remigereau M-S, Osborne EJ, Paolo Casale F, Drewe P, Kahles A, Jean G, Vilhjálmsson B, *et al.* 2015. DNA methylation in Arabidopsis has a genetic basis and shows evidence of local adaptation. *eLife* **4**: e05255.

Dudley EC. **1991**. Maternal effects in evolution. In: Dudley EC, ed. The Unity of Evolutionary Biology: Proceedings of the Fourth International Congress of Systematic and Evolutionary Biology. Dioscorides Press, 719–799.

Dyer AR, Brown CS, Espeland EK, McKay JK, Meimberg H, Rice KJ. **2010**. The role of adaptive trans-generational plasticity in biological invasions of plants. *Evolutionary Applications* **3**: 179–192.

Ellegren H. **2014**. Genome sequencing and population genomics in non-model organisms. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **29**: 51–63.

Feil R, Fraga MF. **2012**. Epigenetics and the environment: emerging patterns and implications. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **13**: 97–109.

Feng S, Rubbi L, Jacobsen SE, Pellegrini M. **2011**. Determining DNA methylation profiles using sequencing. High-Throughput Next Generation Sequencing: Methods and Applications.223–238.

Fieldes MA, Amyot LM. **1999**. Epigenetic control of early flowering in flax lines induced by 5azacytidine applied to germinating seed. Journal of Heredity.199–206.

Fieldes M a., Amyot LM. **2000**. Evaluating the potential of using 5-azacytidine as an epimutagen. *Canadian Journal of Botany* **77**: 1617–1622.

Finnegan EJ. 1996. The role of DNA methylation in plant development. In: Russo VEA,, In:

Martienssen RA,, In: Riggs AD, eds. Epigenetic mechanisms of gene regulation. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 127–140.

Finnegan E. J., Genger RK, Peacock W. J., Dennis ES. **1998**. Dna Methylation in Plants. *Annual review of plant physiology and plant molecular biology* **49**: 223–247.

Foust CM, Preite V, Schrey AW, Alvarez M, Robertson MH, Verhoeven KJF, Richards CL. 2016. Genetic and epigenetic differences associated with environmental gradients in replicate populations of two salt marsh perennials. *Molecular Ecology* **25**: 1639–1652.

Galloway LF. **2005**. Maternal effects provide phenotypic adaptation to local environmental conditions. *New Phytologist* **166**: 93–100.

Galloway LF, Etterson JR. 2007. Transgenerational plasticity is adaptive in the wild. *Science* 318: 1134–6.

Gruenbaum Y, Naveh-Many T, Cedar H, Razin A. 1981. Sequence specificity of methylation in higher plant DNA. *Nature* 292: 860–862.

van Gurp TP, Wagemaker NCAM, Wouters B, Vergeer P, Ouborg JNJ, Verhoeven KJF.
2016. epiGBS: reference-free reduced representation bisulfite sequencing. *Nature methods* 13: 322–4.

Hauser MT, Aufsatz W, Jonak C, Luschnig C. 2011. Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance in plants. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1809: 459–468.

Herman JJ, Sultan SE. **2016**. DNA methylation mediates genetic variation for adaptive transgenerational plasticity.

Herman JJ, Sultan SE, Horgan-Kobelski T, Riggs C. 2012. Adaptive transgenerational plasticity in an annual plant: Grandparental and parental drought stress enhance performance of seedlings in dry soil. Integrative and Comparative Biology.77–88.

Herrera CM, Bazaga P. 2010. Epigenetic differentiation and relationship to adaptive genetic divergence in discrete populations of the violet Viola cazorlensis. *New Phytologist* 187: 867–

876.

Holeski LM. 2007. Within and between generation phenotypic plasticity in trichome density of Mimulus guttatus. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **20**: 2092–2100.

Holeski LM, Jander G, Agrawal AA. 2012. Transgenerational defense induction and epigenetic inheritance in plants. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 27: 618–626.

Hollister JD, Smith LM, Guo Y-L, Ott F, Weigel D, Gaut BS. 2011. Transposable elements and small RNAs contribute to gene expression divergence between Arabidopsis thaliana and Arabidopsis lyrata. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108: 2322–7.

Chen BJW, During HJ, Vermeulen PJ, Anten NPR. **2014**. The presence of a below-ground neighbour alters within-plant seed size distribution in Phaseolus vulgaris. *Annals of Botany* **114**: 937–943.

Chen T, Li E. 2004. Structure and Function of Eukaryotic DNA Methyltransferases. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* **60**: 55–89.

Cheng JC, Weisenberger DJ, Jones PA. **2005**. DNA Demethylating Agents Concepts. In: Esteller M, ed. DNA Methylation: Approaches, Methods and Applications. New York, NY, USA: CRC Press, 151–167.

Jablonka E, Lamb M. 1995. Epigenetic inheritance and evolution - The Lamarckian dimension. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*: 364.

Jablonka E, Lamb. MJ. 1989. The inheritance of acquired epigenetic variations. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 139: 69–83.

Jablonka E, Raz G. 2009. Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance: prevalence, mechanisms, and implications for the study of heredity and evolution. *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 84: 131–176.

Johannes F, Porcher E, Teixeira FK, Saliba-Colombani V, Simon M, Agier N, Bulski A, Albuisson J, Heredia F, Audigier P, *et al.* 2009. Assessing the impact of transgenerational

epigenetic variation on complex traits. PLoS Genetics 5: e1000530.

Jones PA. 1985. Altering gene expression with 5-Azacytidine. Cell 40: 485–486.

Jones L, Ratcliff F, Baulcombe DC. **2001**. RNA-directed transcriptional gene silencing in plants can be inherited independently of the RNA trigger and requires Met1 for maintenance. *Current Biology* **11**: 747–757.

Kakutani T. **2002**. Epi-alleles in plants: inheritance of epigenetic information over generations. *Plant & cell physiology* **43**: 1106–1111.

Kanchanaketu T, Hongtrakul V. 2015. Treatment of 5-Azacytidine as DNA Demethylating Agent in Jatropha curcas L. *Kasetsart J. (Nat. Sci.)* **49**: 524 – 535.

Keller TE, Lasky JR, Yi S V. 2016. The multivariate association between genomewide DNA methylation and climate across the range of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Molecular Ecology* **25**: 1823–1837.

Kinoshita T, Jacobsen SE. **2012**. Opening the door to epigenetics in PCP. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **53**: 763–765.

Kirschner J, Štěpánek J, Černý T, De Heer P, van Dijk PJ. **2013**. Available ex situ germplasm of the potential rubber crop Taraxacum koksaghyz belongs to a poor rubber producer, T. brevicorniculatum (Compositae-Crepidinae). *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* **60**: 455–471.

Klaas M, John MC, Crowell DN, Amasino RM. 1989. Rapid induction of genomic demethylation and T-DNA gene expression in plant cells by 5-azacytosine derivatives. *Plant Molecular Biology* **12**: 413–423.

Kondo H, Miura T, Wada KC, Takeno K. 2007. Induction of flowering by 5-azacytidine in some plant species: Relationship between the stability of photoperiodically induced flowering and flower-inducing effect of DNA demethylation. *Physiologia Plantarum* **131**: 462–469.

Kou HP, Li Y, Song XX, Ou XF, Xing SC, Ma J, Von Wettstein D, Liu B. 2011. Heritable alteration in DNA methylation induced by nitrogen-deficiency stress accompanies enhanced

tolerance by progenies to the stress in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Journal of Plant Physiology* **168**: 1685–1693.

Kromer M, Gross KL. **1987**. Seed mass, genotype, and density effects on growth and yield of Oenothera biennis L. *Oecologia* **73**: 207–212.

Kumar S, Cheng X, Klimasauskas S, Sha M, Posfai J, Roberts RJ, Wilson GG. 1994. The DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. *Nucleic Acids Research* 22: 1–10.

Kumpatla SP, Hall TC. **1998**. Longevity of 5-azacytidine-mediated gene expression and reestablishment of silencing in transgenic rice. *Plant Molecular Biology* **38**: 1113–1122.

Latzel V, Janeček Š, Doležal J, Klimešová J, Bossdorf O. 2014. Adaptive transgenerational plasticity in the perennial Plantago lanceolata. *Oikos* 123: 41–46.

Latzel V, Klimešová J. 2010. Year-to-year changes in expression of maternal effects in perennial plants. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 11: 702–708.

Latzel V, Klimešová J, Hájek T, Gómez S, Šmilauer P. 2010. Maternal effects alter progeny's response to disturbance and nutrients in two Plantago species. *Oikos* **119**: 1700–1710.

Latzel V, Zhang Y, Karlsson Moritz K, Fischer M, Bossdorf O. 2012. Epigenetic variation in plant responses to defence hormones. *Annals of Botany* **110**: 1423–1428.

Li X, Zhu J, Hu F, Ge S, Ye M, Xiang H, Zhang G, Zheng X, Zhang H, Zhang S, *et al.* 2012. Single-base resolution maps of cultivated and wild rice methylomes and regulatory roles of DNA methylation in plant gene expression. *BMC Genomics* 13: 300.

Lisch D. 2009. Epigenetic regulation of transposable elements in plants. *Annual review of plant biology* **60**: 43–66.

Liu C-H, Finke A, Díaz M, Rozhon W, Poppenberger B, Baubec T, Pecinka A. 2015. Repair of DNA Damage Induced by the Cytidine Analog Zebularine Requires ATR and ATM in Arabidopsis. *The Plant cell* 27: 1788–1800.

Manning K, Tor M, Poole M, Hong Y, Thompson AJ, King GJ, Giovannoni JJ, Seymour GB. 2006. A naturally occurring epigenetic mutation in a gene encoding an SBP-box

transcription factor inhibits tomato fruit ripening. Nat Genet 38: 948-952.

Martens UM. 2014. Small Molecules in Oncology. *Small Molecules in Oncology* 201: 145–164.

Metz J, von Oppen J, Tielbörger K. 2015. Parental environmental effects due to contrasting watering adapt competitive ability, but not drought tolerance, in offspring of a semi-arid annual Brassicaceae. *Journal of Ecology* **103**: 990–997.

Moricová P, Ondřej V, Navrátilová B, Luhová L. 2013. Changes of DNA methylation and hydroxymethylation in plant protoplast cultures. *Acta Biochimica Polonica* **60**: 33–36.

Mousseau TA, Fox CW. **1998**. The adaptive significance of maternal effects. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **13**: 403–407.

Ossowski S, Schneeberger K, Lucas-Lledó JI, Warthmann N, Clark RM, Shaw RG, Weigel D, Lynch M. 2010. The rate and molecular spectrum of spontaneous mutations in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 327: 92–94.

Paszkowski J, Grossniklaus U. **2011**. Selected aspects of transgenerational epigenetic inheritance and resetting in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **14**: 195–203.

Paun O, Bateman RM, Fay MF, Hedrén M, Civeyrel L, Chase MW. 2010. Stable epigenetic effects impact adaptation in allopolyploid orchids (Dactylorhiza: Orchidaceae). *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 27: 2465–2473.

Pavlopoulou A, Kossida S. 2007. Plant cytosine-5 DNA methyltransferases: Structure, function, and molecular evolution. *Genomics* **90**: 530–541.

Pecinka A, Rosa M, Schikora A, Berlinger M, Hirt H, Luschnig C, Scheid OM. 2009. Transgenerational stress memory is not a general response in Arabidopsis. *PLoS ONE* **4**: e5202.

Preite V, Snoek LB, Oplaat C, Biere A, Van Der Putten WH, Verhoeven KJF. 2015. The epigenetic footprint of poleward range-expanding plants in apomictic dandelions. *Molecular Ecology* 24: 4406–4418.

Reinders J, Wulff BBH, Mirouze M, Mari-Ordonez A, Dapp M, Rozhon W, Bucher E,

Theiler G, Paszkowski J. 2009. Compromised stability of DNA methylation and transposon immobilization in mosaic Arabidopsis epigenomes. *Genes and Development* **23**: 939–950.

Rendina González AP, Dumalasová V, Rosenthal J, Skuhrovec J, Latzel V. 2016a. The role of transgenerational effects in adaptation of clonal offspring of white clover (Trifolium repens) to drought and herbivory. *Evolutionary Ecology*.

Rendina González AP, Chrtek J, Dobrev PI, Dumalasová V, Fehrer J, Mráz P, Latzel V.
2016b. Stress-induced memory alters growth of clonal offspring of white clover (Trifolium repens). *American Journal of Botany* 103: 1567–1574.

Richards EJ. **2006**. Inherited epigenetic variation - Revisiting soft inheritance. *Nature reviews*. *Genetics* **7**: 395–402.

Richards CL, Bossdorf O, Pigliucci M. **2010**. What Role Does Heritable Epigenetic Variation Play in Phenotypic Evolution? *BioScience* **60**: 232–237.

Roach DA, Wulff RD. 1987a. Maternal effects in plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 18: 209–235.

Roach DA, Wulff RD. 1987b. Maternal effects in plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 18: 209–235.

Rossiter MC. **1996**. Incidence and consequences of inherited environmental effects. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **27**: 451–476.

Santi DV, Garrett CE, Barr PJ. 1983. On the mechanism of inhibition of DNA-cytosine methyltransferases by cytosine analogs. *Cell* 33: 9–10.

Saze H, Mittelsten Scheid O, Paszkowski J. 2003. Maintenance of CpG methylation is essential for epigenetic inheritance during plant gametogenesis. *Nat Genet* 34: 65–9.

Tatra GS, Miranda J, Chinnappa CC, Reid DM. **2000**. Effect of light quality and 5azacytidine on genomic methylation and stem elongation in two ecotypes of Stellaria longipes. *Physiologia Plantarum* **109**: 313–321.

Trucchi E, Mazzarella AB, Gilfillan GD, Lorenzo MT, Schönswetter P, Paun O. 2016.

BsRADseq: Screening DNA methylation in natural populations of non-model species. *Molecular Ecology* **25**: 1697–1713.

Tunc O, Tremellen K. **2009**. Oxidative DNA damage impairs global sperm DNA methylation in infertile men. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* **26**: 537–544.

Vaughn MW, Tanurdžić M, Lippman Z, Jiang H, Carrasquillo R, Rabinowicz PD, Dedhia N, McCombie WR, Agier N, Bulski A, *et al.* 2007. Epigenetic natural variation in Arabidopsis thaliana. *PLoS Biology* **5**: 1617–1629.

Vergeer P, Wagemaker N, Ouborg NJ. 2012. Evidence for an epigenetic role in inbreeding depression. *Biology Letters* 8: 798–801.

Verhoeven KJF, van Gurp TP. **2012**. Transgenerational effects of stress exposure on offspring phenotypes in apomictic dandelion. *PLoS ONE* **7**.

Verhoeven KJF, VonHoldt BM, Sork VL. **2016**. Epigenetics in ecology and evolution: What we know and what we need to know. *Molecular Ecology* **25**: 1631–1638.

Vu WT, Chang PL, Moriuchi KS, Friesen ML. **2015**. Genetic variation of transgenerational plasticity of offspring germination in response to salinity stress and the seed transcriptome of Medicago truncatula. *BMC evolutionary biology* **15**: 59.

Walter J, Harter DE V, Beierkuhnlein C, Jentsch A, de Kroon H. 2016. Transgenerational effects of extreme weather: perennial plant offspring show modified germination, growth and stoichiometry. *Journal of Ecology* **104**: 1032–1040.

Weiner J, Martinez S, Muller-Scharer H, Stoll P, Schmid B. 1997. How Important are Environmental Maternal Effects in Plants? A Study with Centaurea Maculosa. *Journal Of Ecology* 85: 133–142.

Whittle CA, Otto SP, Johnston MO, Krochko JE. 2009. Adaptive epigenetic memory of ancestral temperature regime in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Botany* **87**: 650–657.

Wolf JB, Brodie ED, Cheverud JM, Moore AJ, Wade MJ. 1998. Evolutionary consequences of indirect genetic effects. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 13: 64–69.

Wulff RD. **1986**. Seed Size Variation in Desmodium Paniculatum: II. Effects on Seedling Growth and Physiological Performance. *The Journal of Ecology* **74**: 99–114.

Yang F, Zhang L, Li J, Huang J, Wen R, Ma L, Zhou D, Li L. 2010. Trichostatin A and 5azacytidine both cause an increase in global histone H4 acetylation and a decrease in global DNA and H3K9 methylation during mitosis in maize. *BMC plant biology* **10**: 178.

Zhang YY, Fischer M, Colot V, Bossdorf O. 2013. Epigenetic variation creates potential for evolution of plant phenotypic plasticity. *New Phytologist* **197**: 314–322.

Zhang X, Yazaki J, Sundaresan A, Cokus S, Chan SWL, Chen H, Henderson IR, Shinn P, Pellegrini M, Jacobsen SE, *et al.* 2006. Genome-wide High-Resolution Mapping and Functional Analysis of DNA Methylation in Arabidopsis. *Cell* **126**: 1189–1201.

Zilberman D, Gehring M, Tran RK, Ballinger T, Henikoff S. **2007**. Genome-wide analysis of Arabidopsis thaliana DNA methylation uncovers an interdependence between methylation and transcription. *Nature genetics* **39**: 61–9.

Zuppinger-Dingley D, Schmid B, Petermann JS, Yadav V, De Deyn GB, Flynn DFB. 2014.
Selection for niche differentiation in plant communities increases biodiversity effects. *Nature* 515: 108–111.

7. Appendix – figures and tables



Figure 1: Differences between experimental treatments in the three-week-old seedlings (Experiment 1). (a) effects of the treatments (C - control, G - germinating method, S - spraying method) on the level of genome-wide DNA methylation and (b) on the aboveground biomass of the plants at the end of the three-week experiment. Lower panels show differences between 10-day-old seedlings germinated either in water (C) or a 50 μ M water solution of 5-azaC (G) in (c) root length and (d) leaf area. Different letters within each panel indicate significant differences between treatments (P = 0.05).



Figure 2: Details of the differences in early development of plants between the three treatments (C - control, G - germinating method, S - spraying method) in experiment 1. Upper row shows seedlings in the pots two weeks after transplanting, whereas the lower row displays some of the images of 10-day-old seedlings that were used to estimate root length and leaf area.



Figure 3: Effects of the experimental treatments in plants grown for six weeks (data from experiment 2 analyzed in experiment 1). (a) effect of the treatments (C - control, S - spraying method) on the aerial biomass, (b) on the root biomass, and (c) on the leaf dry matter content of the plants at the end of the six-week experiment.

Table I.: Overview of all the maternal competitive conditions used in experiment 2 with the numbers of replicates for each treatment: NC - no competition treatment, Intra – intraspecific treatment, SC(1-10) - single competitor treatment, FD(1-8) - functional diversity treatment.

treatment	NC	Intra	SC1	SC2	SC3	SC4
focal species	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum
competitor 1-6	-	Taraxacum	Achillea	Alopecurus	Dianthus	Holcus
no. of pots	16	8	8	8	8	8
tre atme nt	SC5	SC6	SC7	SC8	SC9	SC10
focal species	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum
competitor 1-6	Leontodon	Lotus	Plantago l.	Plantago m	Prunella	Trifolium
no. of pots	8	8	8	8	8	8
tre atme nt	FD1	FD2	FD3	FD4		
focal species	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum		
competitor 1	Achillea	Alopecurus	Achillea	Achillea		
competitor 2	Alopecurus	Dianthus	Alopecurus	Dianthus		
competitor 3	Dinathus	Plantago l.	Dianthus	Leontodon		
competitor 4	Leontodon	Plantago m.	Holcus	Plantago m.		
competitor 5	Plantago l.	Prinella	Plantago m.	Prunella		
competitor 6	Plantago m.	Trifolium	Prunella	Trifolium		
no. of pots	5	5	5	5		
tre atment	FD5	FD6	FD7	FD8		
focal species	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum	Taraxacum		
competitor 1	Holcus	Achillea	Alopecurus	Alopecurus		
competitor 2	Leontodon	Lotus	Leontodon	Dianthus		
competitor 3	Lotus	Plantago l.	Lotus	Holcus		
competitor 4	Plantago l.	Plantago m.	Plantago l.	Lotus		
competitor 5	Plantago m.	Prunella	Prunella	Prunella		
competitor 6	Trifolium	Trifolium	Trifolium	Trifolium		
no. of pots	5	5	5	5		
total no. of pots						144





Figure 4 – (a) Leafing rate: Effects of the strength of maternal competition (RII) on the offspring leafing rate (represented by the slope of its linear regression of relationship with time in Poisson distribution) in different time periods (on measurement days: D16, D20, D24, D28, D32, D36, D42) of the six week long experiment (Experiment 2). Left column shows results for plants with normal methylation. Right slope shows results for experimentally demethylated plants. Significance (P = 0.05) of the relationship between the leafing rate and RII is expressed by P₁. Effect of the seed mass on the leafing rate is demonstrated by P₂.





Figure 4 – (b) Rosette diameter: Effects of the strength of maternal competition (RII) on the offspring rosette diameter (represented by the slope of its linear regression in relationship with time) in different time periods (on measurement days: D16, D20, D24, D28, D32, D36, D42) of the six week long experiment (Experiment 2). Left column shows results for plants with normal methylation. Right slope shows results for experimentally demethylated plants. Significance (P = 0.05) of the relationship between the rosette diameter and RII is expressed by P₁. Effect of the seed mass on the rosette diameter is demonstrated by P₂.